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The	Rise	and	Fall	of	Telephone	Exchange	Names	in	Toronto	
	

By	Len	Hicken	(Revised	February	2023)		
	
This	narrative	describes	the	evolvement	and	demise	of	telephone	exchange	(or	central	
office)	names	in	the	City	of	Toronto	from	1879	to	1966.	It	focuses	on	the	City	of	Toronto	
only	and	so	does	not	include	exchange	names	of	surrounding	suburbs	that	did	not	serve	any	
City	of	Toronto	telephone	lines.	
	
The	City	of	Toronto	received	its	first	public	switched	telephone	service	in	March	1879.	It	
was	provided	by	the	Toronto	Telephone	Despatch	Company,	which	had	a	manual	
switchboard	central	office	located	at	10	King	Street	East.	It	started	with	less	than	a	dozen	
subscribers	and	had	grown	to	150	by	the	fall	of	1879.	During	1879,	the	Toronto	Telephone	
Despatch	Company	changed	its	name	to	the	Toronto	Telephone	Company.		
	

					 	
	

April	12,	1879	Ad	
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Early	in	1881,	The	Bell	Telephone	Company	of	Canada	(from	here	on,	this	company	will	be	
referred	to	by	the	acronym	“BTCO”)	took	over	the	public	switched	telephone	operations	in	
Toronto.	In	that	same	year,	BTCO	relocated	the	central	office	to	the	top	floor	of	“The	Mail”	
building	at	106	Bay	Street	(“The	Mail”	was	a	Toronto	newspaper).	
	
Up	until	late	1884,	there	were	no	telephone	numbers.	Subscribers	making	a	call	would	ask	
the	operator	for	a	connection	to	a	name	instead	of	a	number.	Businesses	would	simply	
advertise	that	they	could	be	reached	by	telephone.		
	
	

								 	
	

Jan.	13,	1883	Ad	
	
In	late	1884,	BTCO	installed	a	more	modern	switchboard	in	the	central	office.	With	this	
switchboard	the	company	introduced	the	use	of	numbers	instead	of	names.	Telephone	
numbers	ranged	in	size	from	1	to	4	figures.	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
				
				
	
	
	
	
																																
																																											Dec.	31,	1884	Ad	
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By	1887,	BTCO	had	opened	a	second	exchange	in	the	Yorkville	neighbourhood.	In	
November	1891,	this	exchange	was	relocated	to	1	Bloor	Street	East.	
	
By	the	end	of	1890,	BTCO	had	opened	a	third	exchange	in	the	Parkdale	neighbourhood,	at	
1249	Queen	Street	West.	
	
Even	with	three	exchanges	in	operation,	there	were	still	no	exchange	names.	This	was	
accomplished	by	having	no	duplicate	numbers	in	the	three	exchanges.	The	downtown	
exchange	at	106	Bay	Street	served	telephone	numbers	1	to	2999	(and	later	8xxx).		
	
					
																																												

	
	

Bay	Street	Exchange	Ad	(1892)	
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The	exchange	at	1	Bloor	Street	East	served	numbers	3000	to	4999.	
	
	

																													 	
	

Bloor	Street	Exchange	Ad	(1892)	
	
The	exchange	at	1249	Queen	Street	West	served	numbers	in	the	5xxx	range.	
	
	

																		 	
	
	

Queen	Street	West	Exchange	Ad	(1892)	
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In	the	summer	of	1895,	the	downtown	exchange	at	106	Bay	Street	was	relocated	to	a	brand	
new	BTCO	building	located	at	33	-	37	Temperance	Street.	This	changeover	included	the	
installation	of	the	most	up	to	date	switchboard	equipment,	which	had	a	6000-line	capacity.	
	
A	fourth	exchange	was	put	into	service	in	1897,	although	at	the	time,	this	exchange	building	
was	not	within	the	Toronto	city	limits.	This	exchange	was	located	at	9	Keele	Street	South	in	
the	town	of	Toronto	Junction,	which	was	situated	about	4	miles	west	of	the	downtown	
Toronto	exchange.		The	name	“Junction”	was	assigned	to	this	exchange	and	telephone	
numbers	were	listed	with	the	word	“Junction”	as	well	as	the	1	to	4-figure	station	number.	
The	“Junction”	exchange	is	included	in	this	narrative	because	it	served	telephones	located	
within	the	City	of	Toronto	boundary	limits.	In	addition,	this	area	was	annexed	to	the	City	of	
Toronto	in	1909.	
	

	
	

“Junction”	Exchange	Ad	(1898)	
	

Up	through	the	year	1900,	the	Temperance	Street	exchange	still	did	not	have	an	official	
exchange	name,	although	a	few	advertisement	listings	began	to	show	“Main”	as	the	
exchange	name.	In	the	spring	of	1901,	coincident	with	the	release	of	a	new	telephone	
directory,	the	use	of	exchange	names	became	official.	The	33	-	37	Temperance	Street	
exchange	was	given	the	name	“Main”.	The	exchange	at	1	Bloor	Street	East	was	relocated	to	
14	Hayden	Street	and	given	the	name	“North”.	The	exchange	at	1249	Bloor	Street	West	was	
relocated	to	207	Cowan	Avenue	and	given	the	name	“Parkdale”,	which	was	often	shortened	
to	“Park”.	All	four	exchanges	could	now	have	duplicate	station	numbers,	which	could	range	
from	1	to	4	figures.		
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Ads	For	“Main”	“North”	&	“Park”	Exchanges	(1902)	
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On	August	1st	1903,	a	new	exchange	name	“Beach”	was	put	into	service	and	assigned	to	a	
new	manual	system	located	at	2180	Queen	Street	East.	The	exchange	building	was	a	small,	
one-story	wooden	structure	on	property	that	BTCO	had	leased.	Unlike	the	other	exchanges,	
the	“Beach”	exchange	was	the	local	battery	magneto	type.	In	1907,	BTCO	built	a	new	
exchange	building	at	97	Lee	Avenue	and	installed	common	battery	switchboards.	The	
“Beach”	subscribers	were	cutover	to	common	battery	service	on	December	6th	1907.	
	

											 	
	

“Beach”	Exchange	Ad	(1906)	
	
In	1905,	a	competing	telephone	company,	the	Stark	Telephone,	Light	&	Power	Company	
installed	an	Automatic	Electric	“Strowger”	dial	telephone	system	in	the	town	of	Toronto	
Junction,	located	at	21	May	Street.	This	did	not	replace	the	BTCO	system.	The	two	
companies	operated	competing	systems	here	for	several	years.	The	BTCO	subscribers	
retained	the	exchange	name	Junction	while	the	Stark	subscribers	had	the	exchange	name	
“Stark”.	Businesses	that	could	afford	it	subscribed	to	both	telephone	companies,	in	order	to	
ensure	that	they	could	be	reached	by	all	their	customers.		
	

	
	

Combination	“Junction”	and	“Stark”	Ad	(1906)	



	 8	Len Hicken – Feb. 2023              TCI Library: www.telephonecollectors.info 

  

	
This	company	failed	in	1909	and	was	taken	over	by	the	Interurban	Electric	Company.	By	
1910,	only	Junction	numbers	are	listed	for	this	area,	so	presumably	the	dial	system	had	
been	removed	from	service.	The	town	of	Toronto	Junction	became	the	city	of	West	Toronto	
in	1908	and	then	became	annexed	to	the	City	of	Toronto	in	1909,	becoming	simply	“Ward	
7”.	This	caused	renumbering	of	major	roads	to	align	with	Toronto	numbering.	As	a	result,	
the	Bell	exchange	building	at	9	Keele	Street	South	was	renumbered	to	869	Keele	Street.	It	
was	changed	again	in	1922,	when	the	southernmost	part	of	Keele	Street	was	renamed	to	
Parkside	Drive,	causing	a	renumbering	of	all	the	Keele	Street	addresses.	The	exchange’s	
new	address	number	became	323	Keele	Street.			
	
In	1907,	a	new	exchange	name	“College”	was	put	into	service	in	the	newly	constructed	91	-	
93	Oxford	Street	building.	
	
	

									 	
	

“College”	Exchange	Ad	(1907)	
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In	1909,	construction	work	began	on	a	new	5-story	building	at	76	Adelaide	Street	West,	to	
house	offices	and	exchange	equipment.	In	1911,	a	new	exchange	name	“Adelaide”	went	into	
service	here	and	was	assigned	to	a	new	manual	system.	
	
	

											 	
	

“Adelaide”	Exchange	Ad	(1911)	
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On	December	11,	1911,	the	“North”	exchange	name	was	reassigned	from	a	manual	system	
at	14	Hayden	Street	to	a	manual	system	in	a	new	building	at	13	Bismarck	Avenue.	
	
On	April	6,	1912,	a	new	exchange	name	“Hillcrest”	went	into	service.	Initially	“Hillcrest”	was	
temporarily	assigned	to	a	manual	system	in	the	“College”	exchange	building	on	Oxford	
Street.	In	1913,	it	was	reassigned	to	a	manual	system	in	a	new	building	at	1397	(later	
changed	to	1399)	Bathurst	Street.		
	
	

															 	
	

“Hillcrest”	Exchange	Ad	(1912)	
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In	the	spring	of	1913,	a	new	exchange	name	“Gerrard”	went	into	service	and	was	assigned	
to	a	manual	system	in	a	newly	constructed	building	at	525	Logan	Avenue.	
	
	

																																								 	
	

“Gerrard”	Exchange	Ad	(1913)	
	
In	1915,	the	war	with	Germany	raging	and	the	name	of	Bismarck	Avenue	(named	after	Otto	
Von	Bismarck,	former	German	chancellor)	had	become	unpopular.	It	was	changed	to	
Asquith	Avenue	(after	Herbert	Henry	Asquith,	then	the	prime	minister	of	Great	Britain).	So,	
the	address	of	the	“North”	exchange	name	became	13	Asquith	Avenue	(by	1920	the	
numbering	had	changed	to	15	Asquith	Avenue).	
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On	January	11,	1916,	a	new	exchange	name	“Belmont”	went	into	service	and	was	assigned	
to	a	manual	system	in	a	newly	constructed	building	at	15	Eglinton	Avenue	East	(the	
numbering	of	this	address	was	changed	to	43	Eglinton	Avenue	East	in	1929).	

															 	
	

“Belmont”	Exchange	Ad	(1916)	
	
On	January	17,	1920,	a	new	exchange	name	“Kenwood”	went	into	service	and	was	assigned	
to	a	manual	system	in	a	newly	constructed	building	at	1030	Dufferin	Street.	
	

			 	
	
BTCO	Notice:	“Kenwood”	New	Exchange	Name	(January	1920)	
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Up	to	this	point	there	had	been	no	systemic	approach	to	the	naming	of	exchanges.	They	
were	named	after	people,	districts,	nearby	major	roads,	trees,	etc.		Since	telephone	calls	
were	established	via	human-to-human	voice	interaction,	any	non-duplicated	exchange	
names	would	suffice.	But	changes	were	on	the	horizon.	The	planning	for	dial	exchanges	was	
well	underway	in	1922.	The	first	BTCO	dial	exchange	in	Toronto	was	scheduled	to	open	in	
1924.	Before	that	could	happen,	a	lot	of	work	had	to	be	done.	The	dial	switching	systems	to	
be	operated	by	BTCO	were	the	Automatic	Electric	“Strowger”	type.	In	1920,	Northern	
Electric	had	obtained	a	license	to	manufacture	and	sell	this	equipment	in	Canada.	The	
problem	of	using	exchange	names	with	rotary	dials	had	been	solved	by	the	introduction	of	
the	Bell	System’s	“Blauvelt”	dial	number	plate,	which	uses	24	letters	of	the	alphabet.	These	
are	arranged	such	that	three	different	letters	appear	in	each	finger	wheel	hole	assigned	to	
numbers	2	through	9.	This	permitted	the	retention	of	exchange	names	when	converting	
from	manual	to	dial.	In	Toronto,	only	the	first	two	letters	of	the	exchange	names	were	to	be	
dialed.	The	exact	letters	to	be	dialed	were	capitalized	in	the	telephone	directories.	That	took	
care	of	the	perceived	problem	of	subscribers	needing	to	accurately	dial	a	longer	(6	or	7)	
sequence	of	just	figures.	The	mnemonic	of	the	exchange	name	and	4	figures	would	be	easier	
to	remember.	As	well,	the	amount	of	telephone	number	changes	when	going	dial	would	be	
minimized.	The	big	issue	was	that	the	Strowger	equipment	could	not	distinguish	between	
letter	and	numbers.	If	you	dialed	an	“A”	or	a	“B”	or	a	“C”,	the	switching	equipment	received	
two	pulses	in	each	case	and	performed	a	single	action	based	on	the	two	pulses.	If	you	dialed	
a	“D”	or	an	“E”	or	an	“F”,	the	switching	equipment	received	three	pulses	in	each	case	and	
performed	a	single	action	based	on	the	three	pulses.	The	dial	system	equipment	would	use	
the	first	two	letters	(digits)	received	to	determine	the	distant	exchange	to	direct	the	call	to.	
So,	if	calling	“BEach”,	“BElmont”	or	“ADelaide”,	the	figures	received	would	be	2	and	3	in	all	
three	cases,	which	presented	an	unworkable	conflict.	BTCO	had	to	examine	all	their	existing	
and	proposed	exchange	names	and	develop	a	long-term	systemic	approach	to	selecting	the	
names	to	be	used	with	minimal	disruption	and	cost.	The	first	consideration	was	always	the	
selection	of	the	numerals	of	the	first	2	characters	of	the	telephone	number.	This	was	
necessary	to	satisfy	the	technical	limitations	imposed	by	the	dial	equipment.	Once	the	
numerals	were	chosen,	then	began	the	selection	of	a	name	whose	first	two	letters	matched	
the	letter	combinations	that	appeared	in	the	finger	wheel	holes	of	these	numerals.	The	
emphasis	on	the	name	selection	was	that	it	should	not	cause	any	confusion	to	the	public,	
should	be	short	(one	or	two	syllables),	preferably	not	the	name	of	a	town	or	city	nearby	and	
easy	to	pronounce.	If	after	all	that,	the	name	of	some	significance	to	the	area	or	that	of	a	
prominent	person	would	fit,	then	it	could	be	included	in	the	short	list.	BTCO	made	up	a	list	
of	workable	names	for	each	city	that	would	be	acceptable	for	the	foreseeable	future.	
	
In	addition	to	installing	the	dial	equipment,	expensive	modifications	were	required	to	all	
the	remaining	manual	exchanges.	This	included	the	addition	of	Call	Indicator	Panels	to	
display	to	the	operators	the	numbers	received	from	the	dial	exchanges.	Rotary	dial	
equipment	had	to	be	mounted	on	the	switchboard	positions	so	that	on	incoming	calls	from	
manual	systems	to	dial	systems,	operators	could	complete	the	calls	by	rotary	dialing	the	
called	station	number.	
	
In	the	City	of	Toronto,	5	existing	exchange	names	needed	to	be	changed	before	any	dial	
systems	could	be	put	into	service.		
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In	November	1922,	three	exchange	names	were	replaced	with	new	ones.	“Beach”	became	
“Gladstone”,	“Belmont”	became	“Hudson”	and	“College”	became	“Trinity”.	
				

		 	
	
	

BTCO	Notice:	Exchange	Name	Change	(November	1922)	
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BTCO	Notice:	Exchange	Name	Change	(November	1922)	
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In	June	1923,	two	more	exchange	names	were	replaced.	“Parkdale”	became	“LAkeside”	and	
“North”	became	“RAndolph”.	From	this	point	on,	the	first	2	letters	of	all	exchange	names	
were	listed	in	the	directories	as	capitalized	to	emphasize	the	2	letters	that	needed	to	be	
dialed	by	subscribers	on	dial	systems.		
	

																 	
	

		BTCO	Notice:	Exchange	Name	Change	(June	1923)	
	

Another	change	also	went	into	effect	in	June	1923.	All	station	numbers	became	four	figures	
long.	Former	one,	two	and	three	figure	telephone	numbers	were	now	prefixed	by	the	
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appropriate	quantity	of	zeroes	to	fill	out	a	four-figure	telephone	number.	Again,	this	was	
necessary	to	accommodate	the	requirements	of	the	dial	switching	equipment.		
	

										 	
	

BTCO	Notice:	All	4-Digit	Station	Numbers	(June	1923)	
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By	June	1923,	two	new	exchange	names	“GRover”	and	“ELgin”	went	into	service.	Initially,	
these	two	names	were	temporarily	assigned	to	manual	systems	in	existing	buildings	until	
their	new	buildings	with	dial	equipment	had	been	installed.	“Grover”	was	located	in	the	
“Gerrard”	exchange	building	and	“Elgin”	was	located	in	the	“ADelaide”	exchange	building.	
When	the	new	exchange	building	on	Main	Street	was	completed,	a	manual	system	was	
installed	there	and	the	“Grover”	exchange	was	transferred	to	this	building	to	simplify	the	
upcoming	cutover	to	dial	service.	On	July	19,	1924,	the	existing	“GRover”	manual	
subscribers	were	cutover	to	BTCO’s	first	dial	system	located	in	the	newly	constructed	
building	at	23	Main	Street.		
	

	
	

BTCO	Notice:	“GRover”	First	Dial	Conversion	(July	1924)		
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The	Elgin	building	was	also	under	construction	through	most	of	1923/4.	It	was	located	on	
the	corner	of	Temperance	and	Sheppard	Streets,	very	close	to	the	existing	“ADelaide”	
exchange	building.	This	new	building	was	initially	8	stories	with	the	capability	of	adding	
several	more.	On	February	28,	1925,	the	“ELgin	“exchange	name	was	reassigned	from	a	
manual	system	in	the	76	Adelaide	Street	West	building	to	a	dial	system	in	the	newly	
constructed	Elgin	building.		
	
	

	
	

BTCO	Notice:	“ELgin”	Dial	Conversion	(February	1925)	
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In	June	1925,	a	new	exchange	name	“LOmbard”	went	into	service	and	was	temporarily	
assigned	to	a	manual	system	in	the	existing	“KEnwood”	exchange	building	at	1030	Dufferin	
Street	until	its	new	building	with	dial	equipment	had	been	installed.		
	
Also	in	June	1925,	a	new	exchange	name	called	“HArgrave”	went	into	service.	It	was	
temporarily	assigned	to	a	manual	system	located	in	the	“GLadstone”	exchange	building	at	
97	Lee	Avenue.	
	

			 	
	
BTCO	Notice:	“LOmbard”	and	“HArgrave”	New	Exchange	Names		

	(May	1925)	
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On	August	15,	1925,	the	existing	exchange	name	“LOmbard”	was	reassigned	from	a	manual	
system	at	1030	Dufferin	Street	to	a	dial	system	located	in	a	newly	constructed	3-storey	
building	at	1040	Dufferin	Street.	The	new	building	adjoined	the	existing	building	and	from	
here	on	the	complex	will	be	referred	to	as	1030	–	1040	Dufferin	Street.	
	
	

	
	

BTCO	Notice:	“LOmbard”	Dial	Conversion	(August	1925)	
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In	December	1925,	more	dial	system	equipment	had	been	installed	in	the	“GRover”	
exchange	building	at	23	Main	Street	and	was	ready	for	service.	The	existing	“HArgrave”	
exchange	name	was	reassigned	from	a	manual	system	in	the	“Gladstone”	exchange	building	
to	this	dial	system	in	the	“GRover”	building.	However,	this	was	not	the	final	destination	of	
the	“HArgrave”	exchange	name.	It	would	temporarily	operate	out	of	the	“GRover”	building	
until	its	own	exchange	building,	which	was	under	construction,	was	completed.	The	main	
reason	for	the	new	dial	system	at	the	“GRover”	building	was	to	serve	a	new	exchange	name	
called	“HOward”,	which	was	put	into	service	in	late	December,	1925.	This	dial	system	
served	both	“HOward”	and	“HArgrave”	until	“HArgrave”	was	transferred	to	its	own	building	
at	184	Simpson	Avenue	on	October	9,	1926.	
	

																				 	
	

BTCO	Notice:	“HOward”	New	Dial	Exchange	Name	
(December	1925)	
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Early	in	1926,	a	new	exchange	name	“KIngsdale”	went	into	service	and	was	assigned	to	a	
manual	system	located	in	the	existing	15	Asquith	Avenue	building.	On	April	10,1926,	it	was	
reassigned	to	a	new	dial	system	installed	in	the	newly	constructed	adjoining	building.	
	
	
	

							 						
	

BTCO	Notice:	“KIngsdale”	Dial	Conversion	(April	1926)	
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Also	early	in	1926,	the	“LYndhurst”	exchange	name	went	into	service	and	was	assigned	to	a	
manual	system,	likely	in	the	“JUnction”	exchange	building.	On	July	3,	1926,	it	was	reassigned	
to	a	dial	system	located	in	a	new	building	located	at	562	Runnymede	Road.	

													 	
	

BTCO	Notice:	“LYndhurst”	Dial	Conversion	(July	1926)	
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By	the	end	of	1926,	the	city	of	Toronto	had	18	exchange	names	in	use	distributed	over	14	
central	office	buildings.	By	this	time,	BTCO	had	already	begun	to	consolidate	its	central	
office	buildings.	Due	to	improvements	in	telephone	set	transmission	capabilities	and	
outside	plant	cable,	it	had	become	feasible	for	much	longer	telephone	lines	to	function	and	
still	provide	an	acceptable	quality	of	service.	This	allowed	the	geographical	serving	areas	of	
central	office	buildings	to	be	expanded	and	thus	diminish	the	need	for	new	central	office	
building	locations.	It	also	meant	that	several	exchange	names	could	be	served	from	the	
same	building.	This	had	already	been	started	in:	the	76	Adelaide	St.	West	complex	
(“ADelaide”	and	“ELgin”);	1030	–	1040	Dufferin	Street	(“KEnwood	and”	LOmbard”);	15	
Asquith	Avenue	(RAndolph	and	“KIngsdale”);	and	23	Main	Street	(“Grover”	and	“Howard”).	
Eventually,	growth	would	see	up	to	6	exchange	names	in	one	building.	In	addition,	there	
was	an	opportunity	to	remove	some	existing	central	office	buildings	from	service	by	re-
cabling	the	outside	plant	to	a	different	central	office.	The	economies	that	would	result	from	
this	approach	would	be	realized	in	the	long	term.	In	the	short	term,	however,	new	central	
office	buildings	were	required	for	the	transition	from	manual	to	dial	service.	The	existing	
manual	buildings	were	not	designed	handle	the	floor	loads	of	the	heavier	dial	equipment.	
Many	of	the	old	manual	exchange	buildings	were	sold	to	save	paying	the	annual	taxes	and	
maintenance	costs.	By	the	beginning	of	the	end	of	the	exchange	name	era	in	1958,	the	city	of	
Toronto	had	33	exchange	names	distributed	across	only	8	central	office	buildings.	
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On	May	7,	1927,	a	new	exchange	name,	“HYland”	went	into	service.	It	was	temporarily	
assigned	to	a	manual	system	located	in	the	“HUdson”	exchange	building	at	15	Eglinton	
Avenue	East	until	a	new	exchange	building	was	completed	at	64	Eglinton	Avenue	East.	
	

																							 	
	

BTCO	Notice:	“HYland”	New	Exchange	Name	(May	1927)	
	

By	late	February	1927,	the	“GLadstone”	exchange	was	no	longer	in	service.	The	subscribers	
had	all	been	gradually	transferred	to	other	exchanges,	with	most	of	them	going	to	
“HOward”.	
	
On	January	7,	1928,	the	“ADelaide”	exchange	name	was	reassigned	from	a	manual	system	in	
the	76	Adelaide	Street	West	building	to	a	dial	system	in	the	Elgin	building.	
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On	April	28,	1928,	the	“Hyland”	exchange	name	was	reassigned	from	a	manual	system	at	15	
Eglinton	Avenue	East	to	a	new	dial	system	at	64	Eglinton	Avenue	East	(this	building	was	
renumbered	to	72	Eglinton	Avenue	East	in	1931).	
	

																																											 	
	

BTCO	Notice:	“HYland”	Dial	Conversion	(April	1928)	
	
By	early	July	1928,	a	new	exchange	name,	“WAverley”	went	into	service	and	was	assigned	
to	a	manual	system	in	the	76	Adelaide	Street	West	building.	
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On	January	5,	1929,	a	new	exchange	name,	“LLoydbrook”	went	into	service	and	was	
assigned	to	a	dial	system	in	the	1030	-	1040	Dufferin	Street	complex	(with	“KEnwood”	and	
“LOmbard”).	
	

	
	
BTCO	Notice:	“LLoydbrook”	Dial	Conversion	(January	1929)	
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Sadly,	by	1929,	Toronto’s	first	exchange	name	“MAin”	had	been	removed	from	service.	All	
subscribers	had	been	reassigned	to	the	“WAverley”,	“ADelaide”	or	ELgin”	exchange	names	
at	the	76	Adelaide	Street	West	and	Elgin	buildings.	
	
	
In	May	1929,	a	new	exchange	name,	“MIdway”	went	into	service	and	was	temporarily	
assigned	to	a	manual	system	in	the	15	Asquith	Avenue	building	(with	“RAndolph”	and	
“KIngsdale”).		
	
														

	
	

BTCO	Notice:	“MIdway	New	Exchange	Name	(May	1929)	
	

	
	
	
In	October	1929,	the	“JUnction”	exchange	name	was	reassigned	from	a	manual	system	at	
323	Keele	Street	to	a	dial	system	at	562	Runnymede	Road	(with	“LYndhurst”).		
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On	January	4,	1930,	the	“MIdway”	exchange	name	was	reassigned	from	a	manual	system	to	
a	new	dial	system	within	15	Asquith	Avenue.	
	

																																				 	
	

BTCO	Notice:	“MIdway”	Dial	Conversion	(January	1930)	
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In	November	1929,	the	“Gladstone”	exchange	name	was	revived	and	temporarily	assigned	
to	a	manual	system	in	the	“Gerrard”	exchange	building.	“GLadstone”	was	an	exchange	name	
that	had	been	used	previously	in	Toronto,	from	1922	to	1927,	during	which	time	it	was	
assigned	to	a	manual	system	located	at	97	Lee	Avenue.	On	November	1,	1930,	“GLadstone”	
was	cutover	to	a	dial	system	in	the	184	Simpson	Avenue	building	(with	“HArgrave”).	
	

																																				 	
	
BTCO	Notice:	“GLadstone”	New	Dial	Exchange	(November	1930)	
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By	the	end	of	1930,	construction	of	a	new	12-story	building	on	Temperance	Street	had	been	
completed.	It	abutted	the	“Elgin”	building,	which	also	had	been	extended	by	4	stories.	BTCO	
buildings	in	this	area	were	now	adjoined	in	an	“L”	shape	and	had	extensive	real	estate	
frontage	on	Adelaide	Street,	Sheppard	Street	and	Temperance	Street.	From	this	point	on	in	
this	narrative,	this	multi-building	area	will	be	considered	to	be	a	single	central	office	
serving	complex	and	be	referred	to	by	its	76	Adelaide	Street	West	address.	
	
	On	March	7,	1931,	the	“WAverley”	exchange	name	was	reassigned	from	a	manual	system	to	
a	dial	system	within	the	76	Adelaide	Street	complex.		
	

																																	 	
	

BTCO	Notice:	“WAverley”	Dial	Conversion	(March	1931)	
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On	May	9,	1931,	a	new	exchange	name,	“MElrose”	went	into	service	and	was	assigned	to	a	
dial	system	in	the	1030	–	1040	Dufferin	Street	complex	(with	“KEnwood”,	“LOmbard”	and	
“LLoydbrook”).	
	

																														 	
	

BTCO	Notice:	“MElrose”	New	Dial	Exchange	(May	1931)	
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On	November	16,	1931,	a	new	exchange	name,	“MOhawk”	went	into	service	and	was	
temporarily	assigned	to	a	manual	system	in	the	“HUdson”	exchange	building	at	43	Eglinton	
Avenue	East.	
	

																																						 	
	
BTCO	Notice:	“MOhawk”	New	Exchange	Name	(November	1931)	
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In	1932,	the	“MOhawk”	exchange	name	was	reassigned	from	a	manual	system	at	43	
Eglinton	Avenue	East	to	a	dial	system	at	72	Eglinton	Avenue	East	(with	“HYland”).		
	
In	September	1932,	the	“RAndolph”	exchange	name	was	reassigned	from	a	manual	system	
to	a	dial	system	within	15	Asquith	Avenue.	
	
In	October	1932,	all	of	the	subscribers	(about	4000)	on	the	manual	system	of	the	“TRinity”	
exchange	name,	were	transferred	to	the	existing	dial	system	of	the	“WAverley	exchange	
name.	After	this,	the	“TRinity”	exchange	name	was	removed	from	service.	
	
In	1933,	the	“LAkeside”	exchange	name	was	reassigned	from	a	manual	system	at	207	
Cowan	Avenue	to	a	dial	system	at	1030	–	1040	Dufferin	Street	(with	“KEnwood”,	
“LOmbard”,	“LLoydbrook”	and	“MElrose”).		
	
After	October	1933,	the	“HIllcrest”	exchange	name	was	removed	from	service.	
	
In	1935,	the	“HUdson”	exchange	name	was	reassigned	from	a	manual	system	at	43	Eglinton	
Avenue	East	to	a	dial	system	at	72	Eglinton	Avenue	East	(with	“HYland”	and	“MOhawk”).		
	
In	1935,	the	“GErrard”	exchange	name	was	reassigned	from	a	manual	system	at	525	Logan	
Avenue	to	a	dial	system	at	184	Simpson	Avenue	(with	“HArgrave”	and	“GLadstone”).		
	
In	1936,	the	“KEnwood”	exchange	name	was	reassigned	from	a	manual	system	to	a	dial	
system	within	the	1030	–	1040	Dufferin	Street	complex.		
	
By	July	6,	1936,	all	21	City	of	Toronto	telephone	exchange	names	were	assigned	to	dial	
systems.	
	
In	June	1938,	the	“TRinity”	exchange	name	was	reactivated	and	assigned	to	a	new	dial	
system	in	the	76	Adelaide	Street	complex	(with	“ELgin”,	“ADelaide”	and	“WAverley”).	Its	
main	purpose	was	to	offload	the	congested	“ADelaide”	exchange.	The	huge	Eaton’s	and	
Simpson’s	department	stores	were	quickly	transferred	from	“ADelaide”	to	“TRinity”.	
	
In	the	summer	of	1938,	a	new	exchange	name,	“MAyfair”	went	into	service	and	was	
assigned	to	a	dial	system	at	72	Eglinton	Avenue	East	(with	“HYland”	“MOhawk”	and	
“HUdson”).	
	
On	August	17,	1942,	a	new	exchange	name	“MUrray”	went	into	service	and	was	assigned	to	
a	dial	system	in	the	562	Runnymede	Road	building	(with	“LYndhurst”	and	“JUnction”).	
	
On	December	21,	1942,	a	new	exchange	name	“OXford”	went	into	service	and	was	assigned	
to	a	dial	system	in	the	23	Main	Street	building	(with	“GRover”	and	“HOward”).		
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On	September	20,	1943,	a	new	exchange	name	“OLiver”	went	into	service	and	was	assigned	
to	a	manual	system	at	1030	-	1040	Dufferin	Street	(with	“KEnwood”,	“LOmbard”,	
“LLoydbrook”,	“MElrose”	and	“Lakeside”).	It	reused	the	old	“KEnwood”	manual	equipment	
that	had	been	retained	in	this	building.	It	was	originally	planned	to	be	a	dial	system	but	the	
plans	changed	because	World	War	II	had	disrupted	the	Northern	Electric	manufacturing	of	
new	dial	equipment.		
	

																														 	
	
BTCO	Notice:	“OLiver”	New	Manual	Exchange	(September	1943)		
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On	December	7,	1946,	a	new	exchange	name	“ORchard”	went	into	service	and	was	assigned	
to	a	dial	system	in	the	newly	constructed	building	at	310	Ridelle	Avenue.	Although	the	
exchange	building	was	actually	located	in	York	Township,	this	was	considered	to	be	a	City	
of	Toronto	exchange	because	it	served	so	many	existing	Toronto	telephone	subscribers.	In	
1953,	the	exchange	building’s	address	number	changed	from	310	Ridelle	Avenue	to	130	
Ridelle	Avenue.		
	

																																									 	
	
BTCO	Notice:	“ORchard”	New	Dial	Exchange	(December	1946)	
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On	April	10,	1948,	a	new	exchange	name	“PLaza”	went	into	service	and	was	assigned	to	a	
dial	system	located	in	the	76	Adelaide	Street	West	complex	(with	“ELgin”,	“ADelaide”,	
“WAverley”	and	“TRinity”).	
	

					 			
	

BTCO	Notice:	“PLaza”	New	Dial	Exchange	(April	1948)	
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On	October	18,	1948,	a	new	exchange	name	“PRincess”	went	into	service	and	was	assigned	
to	a	dial	system	in	the	15	Asquith	Avenue	building	(with	“KIngsdale”	“RAndolph”	and	
“MIdway”).	
	

																				 	
	
BTCO	Notice:	“PRincess”	New	Dial	Exchange	(October	1948)	
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On	November	14,	1948,	a	new	exchange	name	“REdfern”	went	into	service	and	was	
assigned	to	a	dial	system	in	the	310	Ridelle	Avenue	building	(with	“ORchard”).	
	

																														 	
	
	
BTCO	Notice:	“REdfern”	New	Dial	Exchange	(November	1948)	
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On	February	28,	1949,	a	new	exchange	name	“RIverdale”	went	into	service	and	was	
assigned	to	a	dial	system	in	the	184	Simpson	Avenue	building	(with	“HArgrave”	
“GLadstone”	and	“GErrard”).	
	
	

																																							 	
	
BTCO	Notice:	“RIverdale”	New	Dial	Exchange	(February	1949)	
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In	May	1949,	a	new	exchange	name	“ROdney”	went	into	service	and	was	assigned	to	a	dial	
system	in	the	562	Runnymede	Road	building	(with	“LYndhurst”	“JUnction”	and	“MUrray”).		
	
On	March	4,	1950,	the	“OLiver”	exchange	name	was	reassigned	from	a	manual	system	to	a	
dial	system	within	the	1030	–	1040	Dufferin	Street	location.	It	was	the	last	dial	conversion	
in	the	City	of	Toronto.	
	
By	the	end	of	1950	the	City	of	Toronto	had	32	exchanges,	all	dial.	They	were:	GErrard,	
KEnwood,	HUdson,	JUnction,	LAkeside,	OLiver,	ELgin,	GRover,	HArgrave,	HOward,	
KIngsdale,	LOmbard,	LYndhurst,	ADelaide,	HYland,	LLoydbrook,	MIdway,	GLadstone,	
MElrose,	WAverley,	MOhawk,	RAndolph,	TRinity,	MAyfair,	MUrray,	OXford,	ORchard,	PLaza,	
PRincess,	REdfern,	RIverdale	and	ROdney.		
	
In	1947,	changes	were	in	the	wind	for	Toronto’s	telephone	numbering.	The	Bell	System	
announced	a	new	uniform	numbering	system	for	North	America.	This	system	would	consist	
of	a	3-digit	area	code	and	a	2-letter,	5-figure	format	for	each	telephone	number.	This	would	
provide	each	subscriber	in	North	America	with	a	unique	10-character	telephone	number.	
The	purpose	of	this	change	was	to	permit	nationwide	operator	toll	dialing	and	eventually	
Direct	Distance	Dialing	(DDD)	by	subscribers.	Up	through	the	1940’s,	long	distance	calling	
was	time	consuming	and	unwieldy.	It	took	so	long	to	set	up	a	connection,	that	when	a	call	
was	initiated,	the	operator	told	the	caller	to	hang	up	and	that	they	would	be	called	back	
when	the	connection	was	established.	A	different	operator	was	required	at	each	toll	point	in	
the	connection.	Very	slowly,	advancements	were	made	to	allow	a	single	operator	to	
complete	a	long-distance	connection	by	dialing	a	prefix	code	as	each	toll	point	along	the	
connection	path	was	reached.	This	was	also	time	consuming	and	error	prone	and	was	due	
to	the	limitations	imposed	by	the	step-by-step	toll	dial	equipment.	The	introduction	of	the	
common	control	No.	4	crossbar	toll	“smart”	switch	overcame	most	of	these	problems.	The	
program	to	convert	to	nationwide	operator	toll	dialing	began	in	earnest.	In	Toronto,	
operator	distance	dialing	began	slowly,	again	due	to	the	step-by-step	limitations,	but	had	
climbed	to	about	a	third	of	the	long	distance	calls	in	1953.	In	1956,	an	improved	version	of	
the	No.	4	crossbar	switch,	called	the	No.	4A	crossbar,	was	installed	in	the	76	Adelaide	Street	
West	complex.	This	increased	the	amount	of	single	operator	distance	dialing	to	75%.	As	
part	of	a	process	to	provide	nationwide	operator	toll	dialing	and	ultimately	DDD,	changes	to	
Toronto’s	2-letter,	4-figure	format	were	necessary.	In	addition,	Toronto	was	running	out	of	
number	capacity	using	this	format.	On	January	22,	1951,	the	first	two	exchanges	using	the	
2-letter,	5-figure	numbering	system	were	introduced	to	Toronto.	The	exchange	name	
“Adelaide”	was	replaced	by	“EMpire		3”	and	the	exchange	name	“ELgin”	was	replaced	by	
“EMpire		4”.	This	number	conversion	would	prove	to	be	a	slow	process	in	Toronto,	taking	
more	than	seven	years	to	complete.	
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BTCO	Notice:	Introduction	For	2-Letter,	5-Figure	Numbers	
(January	1951)	
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On	April	16,	1951,	a	new	exchange	name	“RUssell		1”	went	into	service	and	was	assigned	to	
a	dial	system	in	the	310	Ridelle	Avenue	building	(with	“ORchard”	and	“REdfern”).	
	

																																 	
	

BTCO	Notice:	“RUssell		1”	New	Dial	Exchange	(April	1951)	
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On	March	16,	1952,	the	exchange	name	“PLaza”	was	replaced	by	“EMpire		6”.	
	

																																																						 	
	
BTCO	Notice:	“EMpire		6”	Exchange	Name	Replaces	“PLaza”	

And	Five	New	Exchange	Names	For	Toronto	Suburbs	
	(March	1952)	
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On	March	22,	1953,	the	exchange	name	“WAverley”	was	replaced	by	“EMpire		8”;	the	
exchange	name	“HUdson”	was	replaced	by	“HUdson		8”;	and	the	exchange	name	“HYland”	
was	replaced	by	“HUdson		9”.	
	

																																			 			
	
BTCO	Notice:	“HUdson		8”,	“HUdson		9”	&	“EMpire		8”	Exchange	

Names	Replace	“HUdson”,	“HYland”	&	“WAverley”	
	(March	1953)	
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On	March	21,	1954,	the	exchange	name	“RAndolph”	was	replaced	by	“WAlnut		1”;	the	
exchange	name	“KIngsdale”	was	replaced	by	“WAlnut		2”;	the	exchange	name	“MIdway”	was	
replaced	by	“WAlnut		3”;	and	the	exchange	name	“PRincess”	was	replaced	by	“WAlnut		4”.	
	

																							 	
	

BTCO	Notice:	“WAlnut		1	to	4”	Exchange	Names	Replace	
“RAndolph”,	“KIngsdale”,	“MIdway”	&	“PRincess”	

(March	1954)	
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On	March	20,	1955,	the	exchange	name	“HOward”	was	replaced	by	“OXford		1”;	the	
exchange	name	“GRover”	was	replaced	by	“OXford		4”;	the	exchange	name	“OXford”	was	
replaced	by	“OXford		9”;	the	exchange	name	“MUrray”	was	replaced	by	“ROger		2”;	the	
exchange	name	“ROdney”	was	replaced	by	“ROger		6”;	the	exchange	name	“LYndhurst”	was	
replaced	by	“ROger		7”;	the	exchange	name	“JUnction”	was	replaced	by	“ROger		9”;	and	the	
exchange	name	“TRinity”	was	replaced	by	“UNiversity		1”.	
	

	
	
BTCO	Notice:	8	More	Exchange	Names	Change	&	Convert	To	The	

2-Letter,	5-Figure	Format	(March	1955)	
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On	March	18,	1956,	the	exchange	name	“MElrose”	was	replaced	by	“LEnnox		1”;	the	
exchange	name	“LAkeside”	was	replaced	by	“LEnnox		2”;	the	exchange	name	“KEnwood”	
was	replaced	by	“LEnnox		3”;	the	exchange	name	“OLiver”	was	replaced	by	“LEnnox		4”;	the	
exchange	name	“LLoydbrook”	was	replaced	by	“LEnnox		5”;	and	the	exchange	name	
“LOmbard”	was	replaced	by	“LEnnox		6”.	
	

																																					 	
	
BTCO	Notice:	6	More	Exchange	Names	Change	&	Convert	To	The	

2-Letter,	5-Figure	Format	(March	1956)	
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On	March	17,	1957,	the	exchange	name	“RIverdale”	was	replaced	by	“HOward		1”;	the	
exchange	name	“GErrard”	was	replaced	by	“HOward		3”;	the	exchange	name	“GLadstone”	
was	replaced	by	“HOward		5”;	and	the	exchange	name	“HArgrave”	was	replaced	by	
“HOward		6”.	
	

																				 	
	
BTCO	Notice:	4	More	Exchange	Names	Change	&	Convert	To	The	

2-Letter,	5-Figure	Format	(March	1957)	
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On	March	16,	1958,	the	exchange	name	“MOhawk”	was	replaced	by	“HUdson		3”;	the	
exchange	name	“MAyfair”	was	replaced	by	“HUdson		5”;	the	exchange	name	“ORchard”	was	
replaced	by	“RUssell		2”;	and	the	exchange	name	“REdfern”	was	replaced	by	“RUssell		3”.	
This	completed	the	conversion	from	the	2-letter,	4-figure	numbering	system	to	the	2-letter,	
5-figure	numbering	system.	
	

																				 	
	
BTCO	Notice:	4	More	Exchange	Names	Change	&	Convert	To	The	

2-Letter,	5-Figure	Format	(March	1958)	
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Having	both	an	in-service	4A	crossbar	toll	switch	and	its	2-letter,	5-figure	number	
conversion	completed,	Toronto	was	ready	for	subscriber	Direct	Distance	Dialing.	This	
service	began	on	May	25th,	1958.	
	
	

																								 	
	

BTCO	Notice:	DDD	Begins	Tomorrow	(May	1958)	
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In	1960,	BTCO	announced	that	All	Number	Calling	(ANC)	would	soon	be	coming.	This	was	
because	the	telephone	network	was	again	running	short	of	usable	exchange	names	and	the	
ANC	approach	would	increase	the	central	office	code	capacity	from	540	to	800	per	
Numbering	Plan	Area	(NPA).	In	the	April	1961	telephone	directory,	two	exchange	names	
had	been	completely	dropped.	“EMpire		8”	had	become	“368”	and	“WAlnut		4”	had	become	
“924”.	
	

																								 	
	
BTCO	Notice:	Introducing	All	Number	Calling	(April	1961)		
	



	 54	Len Hicken – Feb. 2023              TCI Library: www.telephonecollectors.info 

  

	After	this,	BTCO	took	a	different	approach	to	ANC	for	the	next	several	years.	For	existing	
subscribers,	the	exchange	names	were	retained.	For	new	subscribers	or	subscriber	moves	
requiring	a	number	change,	seven-figure	phone	numbers	were	provided.	So,	the	telephone	
directory	entries	began	showing	a	mix	of	2-letter,	5–figure	and	seven-figure	entries	for	each	
exchange.	This	process	continued	until	1966.	With	the	delivery	of	the	March,	1966	
telephone	directory,	every	telephone	number	was	listed	as	seven	figures.	The	annual	City	of	
Toronto	directory	(published	by	MIGHT’s)	didn’t	make	the	change	until	1969.	Some	
newspaper	classified	ads	had	exchange	names	persisting	until	1971.	And,	of	course,	on	
many	store-front	signs	that	advertised	telephone	numbers,	exchange	names	lingered	for	
many	years.	
	
But	it	was	over.	After	nearly	seven	decades,	the	use	of	exchange	names	in	the	City	of	
Toronto	had	ended.	
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The	Final	City	of	Toronto	Exchange	Name	Configuration	
	

Before	the	conversion	to	ANC	began,	the	City	of	Toronto	had	33	in-service	exchange	names	
distributed	over	8	central	office	buildings.	The	allocation	of	these	exchange	names	to	these	
8	buildings	is	shown	below.	These	exchange	names	are	all	in	the	2-letter,	5-figure	format	
that	evolved	during	the	1950’s.	The	2-letter,	4-figure	exchange	names	that	preceded	them	
are	reflected	in	parentheses	following	each	name.	
	
76	Adelaide	Street	West:	
	
EMpire		3	(ADelaide);	EMpire		4	(ELgin);	EMpire		6	(PLaza);	EMpire		8	(WAverley);	
UNiversity		1	(TRinity)	
	
15	Asquith	Avenue:	
	
WAlnut		1	(RAndolph);	WAlnut		2	(KIngsdale);	WAlnut		3	(MIdway);	Walnut		4	(PRincess)	
	
1030	–	1040	Dufferin	Street	
	
LEnnox		1	(MElrose);	LEnnox		2	(LAkeside);	LEnnox		3	(KEnwood);	LEnnox		4	(OLiver);	
LEnnox		5	(LLoydbrook);	LEnnox		6	(LOmbard)	
	
72	Eglinton	Avenue	East	
	
HUdson		3	(MOhawk);	HUdson		5	(MAyfair);	HUdson		8	(HUdson);	HUdson		9	(HYland)	
	
19	–	23	Main	Street	
	
OXford		1	(HOward);	OXford		4	(GRover);	OXford		9	(OXford)	
	
130	Ridelle	Avenue	
	
RUssell		1	(This	was	a	new	exchange	name,	not	a	replacement);	RUssell		2	(ORchard);	
RUssell		3	(REdfern)	
	
562	Runnymede	Road	
	
ROger		2	(MUrray);	ROger		6	(ROdney);	ROger		7	(LYndhurst);	ROger		9	(JUnction)	
	
184	Simpson	Avenue		
	
HOward		1	(RIverdale);	HOward		3	(GErrard);	HOward		5	(GLadstone);		
HOward		6	(HArgrave)	
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The	City	of	Toronto	Central	Office	Buildings	
	

	
	

10	King	Street	East	
	
The	arrow	points	to	the	building	that	housed	the	first	public	switched	exchange	in	the	City	
of	Toronto.	It	was	put	into	service	in	the	spring	of	1879	and	operated	by	the	Toronto	
Telephone	Despatch	Company.	It	has	long	since	been	torn	down.	
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“The	Mail”	Building,	106	Bay	Street	
	

In	1881,	BTCO	relocated	the	exchange	to	the	top	floor	of	this	Toronto	newspaper	building.	A	
major	fire	in	1884	forced	6	operators	to	climb	out	onto	the	ledge	until	they	were	rescued.	
This	building	has	also	been	torn	down.	
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(No	pictures	could	be	found	of	the	original	Yorkville	exchange,	the	1	Bloor	St.	East	
exchange,	the	14	Hayden	Street	exchange	or	the	1249	Queen	Street	West	exchange.	The	
Queen	Street	building	had	already	been	torn	down	and	replaced	by	1909.)	
	

	
	

1921	BTCO	Sketch	of	33-37	Temperance	Street	
	

In	1895,	BTCO	relocated	the	main	exchange	from	106	Bay	Street	to	33	–	37	Temperance	
Street.	This	manual	exchange	remained	in	service	here	until	1929.	It	was	given	the	“Main”	
exchange	name	in	1901.	This	building	has	been	torn	down.	
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1921	BTCO	Sketch	of	9	Keele	Street	South	

	
In	1897,	the	BTCO	added	a	fourth	exchange	at	9	Keele	Street	South.	This	was	the	first	City	of	
Toronto	exchange	to	have	a	name.	The	name	given	was	“Junction”	because	technically	the	
building	was	located	in	the	separate	Town	of	Toronto	Junction,	but	served	lines	located	
within	the	City	of	Toronto.	Central	office	exchange	area	boundaries	did	not	necessarily	
follow	municipal	boundaries.	In	any	case,	this	area	was	annexed	to	the	City	of	Toronto	in	
1909.	The	address	number	of	this	building	changed	twice,	first	to	869	Keele	Street	then	to	
323	Keele	Street.	The	depicted	building	was	built	circa	1910.	The	manual	Junction	exchange	
remained	in-service	here	until	1929.	The	building	depicted	in	the	1921	sketch	still	stands,	
but	is	not	Bell	Canada	owned	or	operated.	A	current	view	is	shown	below.	
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1921	BTCO	Sketch	of	207	Cowan	Avenue	
	
In	1901,	BTCO	relocated	the	exchange	at	1249	Bloor	Street	West	to	207	Cowan	Avenue.	It	
was	situated	in	the	former	Town	of	Parkdale,	which	had	been	annexed	to	the	City	of	
Toronto	in	1889.	In	1901,	the	exchange	was	given	the	name	“Parkdale”	(often	listed	as	just	
“Park”).	In	June	1923,	the	exchange	name	was	changed	to	“Lakeside”	to	avert	dialing	
conflicts	when	the	future	“automatics”	started	to	come	into	service.	This	manual	exchange	
remained	in-service	here	until	1933.	The	building	depicted	in	the	1921	sketch	still	stands,	
but	is	not	Bell	Canada	owned	or	operated.	A	current	view	is	shown	below.		
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Photo	of	1st	BTCO	“Beach”	exchange	at	2180	Queen	Street	East	

	
In	1903,	BTCO	opened	a	new	exchange	name	called	“Beach”.	It	was	assigned	to	a	manual	
system	at	2180	Queen	Street	East.	It	was	given	the	name	“Beach”	because	it	was	located	in	
the	“Beach”	area	of	Toronto.	“The	Beach”	or	“The	Beaches”	is	a	neighbourhood	within	the	
City	of	Toronto	on	its	east	side,	so	called	because	it	has	four	distinct	sandy	beaches	on	its	
Lake	Ontario	shoreline.	The	exchange	building	was	a	small,	one-story	wood-framed	
structure	on	property	leased	by	BTCO.	Unlike	the	other	exchanges,	the	“Beach”	exchange	
was	the	local	battery	magneto	type.	
	
	In	1907,	BTCO	built	a	new	exchange	building	at	97	Lee	Avenue	and	installed	common	
battery	switchboards	and	transferred	the	“Beach”	exchange	to	this	building.	In	1922,	the	
exchange	name	was	changed	to	“GLadstone”	to	avert	dialing	conflicts	when	the	future	
“automatics”	started	to	come	into	service.	The	new	exchange	name	was	in	honour	of	
William	Ewart	Gladstone	(1809	–	1898),	who	was	a	former	Prime	Minister	of	the	UK.	This	
building	also	provided	temporary	manual	service	during	1925	for	a	new	exchange	name	
called	“HArgrave”.	The	“GLadstone”	manual	exchange	remained	in	service	here	until	1927,	
at	which	time	the	“GLadstone”	name	was	temporarily	retired.	The	97	Lee	Avenue	building	
still	stands,	but	is	not	Bell	Canada	owned	or	operated.	Early	and	current	current	views	are	
shown	below.	It	is	presently	utilized	as	a	ten-unit	apartment	complex.	
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Early	Photo	of	97	Lee	Avenue	
	
	
	
	
	

														 																						
		
																															Current	view	of	97	Lee	Avenue	
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1921	BTCO	Sketch	of	91	–	93	Oxford	Street	
	

In	1907,	BTCO	opened	a	new	exchange	name	called	“College”.	It	was	assigned	to	a	manual	
system	at	at	91	–	93	Oxford	Street.	This	building	is	in	close	proximity	to	a	major	Toronto	
Street	called	College	Street.	College	Street	takes	its	name	from	the	original	name	for	
the	University	of	Toronto,	which	was	King's	College.	College	Street	marks	the	southern	
boundary	of	the	original	1827	land	grant	for	the	college.	In	1922,	the	exchange	name	was	
changed	to	“Trinity”	to	avert	dialing	conflicts	when	the	future	“automatics”	started	to	come	
into	service.	Perhaps	“Trinity”	was	chosen	because	the	religious	Trinity	College	replaced	
King’s	College	when	it	became	secular	in	1850.	A	nearby	neighbourhood	is	called	Trinity	
Bellwoods.	The	“Trinity”	exchange	name	remained	in	service	here	until	1932,	at	which	time	
the	“Trinity”	name	was	temporarily	retired.	One	other	exchange	name,	“Hillcrest”	(1912)	
was	temporarily	assigned	to	a	manual	system	here.	The	building	depicted	in	the	1921	
sketch	still	stands,	but	is	not	Bell	Canada	owned	or	operated.	A	current	view	is	shown	
below.		
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1909	Depiction	of	Future	Building	at	76	Adelaide	Street	West	

	
In	1909	construction	began	on	a	new	5-storey	manual	system	exchange	building	to	be	
located	at	76	Adelaide	Street	West.	In	1911,	BTCO	opened	a	new	exchange	name	here	called	
“Adelaide”.	Adelaide	Street	was	named	after	Adelaide	Louise	Theresa	Caroline	Amelia	
(1792	–	1849),	who	was	Queen	Consort	of	the	United	Kingdom	and	the	wife	of	King	William	
IV.	The	“Adelaide”	exchange	name	remained	assigned	to	a	manual	system	here	until	1928.	
Two	more	stories	were	added	in	1926.	Two	other	exchange	names,	“ELgin”	(1923)	and	
“WAverley”	(1928)	were	temporarily	assigned	to	manual	systems	at	this	location.	The	
building	was	torn	down	in	1962	in	preparation	for	the	construction	of	the	current	building	
at	this	site,	which	was	completed	in	1965.	The	current	Bell	Canada	owned	and	operated	
building	is	shown	below.	
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Current	View	of	the	Adelaide	Street	Face	of	the		
76	Adelaide	Street	West	Complex	
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1921	Sketch	of	15	Asquith	Avenue		
	

On	December	11,	1911,	BTCO	relocated	the	“North”	exchange	from	14	Hayden	Street	to	a	
new	manual	system	exchange	building	at	13	Bismarck	Avenue.	It	had	been	given	the	name	
“North”	in	1901,	when	the	first	batch	of	exchange	names	were	activated.	The	name	reflected	
its	proximity	to	the	northern	boundary	of	the	City	of	Toronto	at	that	time.	During	World	
War	I,	the	address	street	and	number	was	changed	to	15	Asquith	Avenue.	In	1923,	the	
exchange	name	was	changed	from	“North”	to	“RAndolph”.	Two	other	exchange	names,	
“KIngsdale”	(1926)	and	“MIdway”	(1929)	were	temporarily	assigned	to	manual	systems	at	
this	location.	This	building	has	been	torn	down.		
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In	1926,	a	new	dial	system	exchange	building	adjoining	the	existing	15	Asquith	Avenue	
building	was	completed.	Four	exchange	names	were	assigned	to	dial	systems	in	this	
building.	These	were:	“KIngsdale”	(1926);	“MIdway”	(1930);	“RAndolph”	(1932)	and	
“PRincess”	(1948).	In	1954,	these	exchange	names	were	changed,	respectively,	to:	“WAlnut		
2”;	“WAlnut		3”;	“WAlnut		1”	and	“WAlnut		4”.	This	building	still	stands	and	is	owned	and	
operated	by	Bell	Canada.	A	current	view	is	shown	below.	
	
																							

	
	

Current	View	of	15	Asquith	Avenue	
	

	
Notice	that	the	original	“THE	BELL	TELEPHONE	COMPANY	OF	CANADA”	inscription	
remains	intact	above	the	doorway.	
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1921	BTCO	Sketch	of	1399	Bathurst	Street	
	
On	April	6,	1912,	BTCO	opened	a	new	exchange	name	called	“Hillcrest”.	It	was	temporarily	
assigned	to	a	manual	system	in	the	91	–	93	Oxford	Street	building.	During	1913,	a	new	
manual	system	exchange	building	was	completed	at	1399	Bathurst	Street	and	the	
“Hillcrest”	exchange	name	was	reassigned	to	a	manual	system	in	this	new	building.	The	
“Hillcrest	name	is	based	on	the	location	of	the	building.	It	sits	on	top	of	a	rise	in	the	
topography	called	the	Davenport	Escarpment,	which	was	the	shoreline	of	the	ancient	glacial	
Lake	Iroquois.	In	close	proximity	is	a	neighbourhood	known	as	“Hillcrest	Village”.	This	
manual	exchange	remained	in	service	at	this	location	until	1933,	when	use	of	the	“Hillcrest”	
exchange	name	was	discontinued.	The	building	in	the	1921	sketch	still	stands,	but	is	not	
Bell	Canada	owned	or	operated.	A	current	view	is	shown	below.	
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1921	BTCO	Sketch	of	525	Logan	Avenue	
	

In	1913,	BTCO	opened	a	new	exchange	name	called	“Gerrard”.	It	was	located	in	a	new	
manual	system	exchange	building	at	525	Logan	Avenue.	The	“Gerrard”	exchange	takes	its	
name	from	its	proximity	to	a	major	east-west	artery	running	through	the	east	side	of	
Toronto.	Gerrard	Street	was	named	after	Samuel	Gerrard	(1767	–	1857).	He	was	
a	businessman,	militia	officer,	justice	of	the	peace,	politician	and	a	president	of	the	Bank	of	
Montreal.	The	“Gerrard”	exchange	name	remained	in	service	at	this	location	until	1935.	One	
other	exchange	name,	“GRover”	(1923)	was	temporarily	assigned	to	a	manual	system	here.	
The	building	depicted	in	the	1921	sketch	still	stands,	but	is	not	Bell	Canada	owned	or	
operated.	A	current	view	is	shown	below.	
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1921	BTCO	Sketch	of	15	Eglinton	Avenue	East	
	
On	January	11,	1916,	BTCO	opened	a	new	exchange	name	called	“Belmont”	(the	significance	
of	this	exchange	name	is	unknown).	It	was	located	in	a	new	manual	system	exchange	
building	at	15	Eglinton	Avenue	East.	In	1922,	the	exchange	name	was	changed	to	“Hudson”.	
This	building	also	housed	manual	systems	for	the	following	exchange	names:	“HYland”	
(1927)	and	“MOhawk”	(1931).	The	address	number	of	this	building	changed	to	43	Eglinton	
Avenue	East	after	1929.	After	the	last	manual	exchange	had	been	removed	in	1935,	this	
building	was	utilized	as;	a	BTCO	recreational	centre	(1936	to	1940);	a	BTCO	district	office	
(1941	to	1958);	and	a	BTCO	storage	facility	(1959	to	1961).	This	building	was	torn	down	in	
the	1962	to	1964	timeframe	to	make	way	for	a	new	10-story	office	building.	
	

													 	
	
																							1930	Photo	of	43	Eglinton	Avenue	East	
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1921	BTCO	Sketch	of	1030	Dufferin	Street	
	

On	January	17,	1920,	BTCO	opened	a	new	exchange	name	called	“Kenwood”	(the	
significance	of	this	exchange	name	is	unknown).	It	was	located	in	a	new	manual	system	
exchange	building	at	1030	Dufferin	Street.	Two	other	exchange	names,	“LOmbard”	(1925)	
and	“OLiver”	(1943)	were	assigned	to	manual	systems	in	this	building.	The	building	
depicted	in	the	1921	sketch	still	stands	and	is	part	of	the	1030	–	1040	Dufferin	Street	Bell	
Canada	Complex.	
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1924	Photo	of	23	Main	Street	
	
On	July19,	1924,	the	existing	“GRover”	exchange	name	was	reassigned	to	a	dial	system	in	a	
new	building	located	at	23	Main	Street.	This	was	BTCO’s	first	dial	exchange	and	it	utilized	
Automatic	Electric	designed,	Northern	Electric	built,	Strowger	Step-By-	Step	switches.	Two	
more	stories	were	added	in	1925.	This	building	also	housed	dial	systems	for	the	following	
exchange	names:	“HOward”	(1925)	and	“OXford	(1942).	In	1955,	the	three	exchange	names	
were	changed,	respectively,	to:	“OXford		4”;	“OXford		1”	and	“OXford		9”.	This	building	still	
stands	and	is	owned	and	operated	by	Bell	Canada.	The	first	photo	below	is	from	1937	and	
depicts	the	appearance	of	the	building	with	its	2	additional	stories.	The	second	photo	is	a	
current	view	that	shows	the	added	wing	and	the	aluminum	cladding.	
.	
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1937	Photo	of	23	Main	Street	
	

																												 	
	

Current	View	of	19	–	23	Main	Street	
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1924	BTCO	Sketch	of	Elgin	Building	
	
This	dial	system	exchange	building	was	constructed	during	1923	and	1924.	It	was	called	
the	Elgin	building	because	the	first	exchange	name	to	be	opened	here	was	going	to	be	
“ELgin”.	It	was	located	at	the	corner	of	Temperance	Street	and	Sheppard	Street,	close	to	the	
“ADelaide”	exchange	building.	In	the	spring	of	1930,	a	new	12-story	building	was	completed	
that	fronted	on	Temperance	Street.	It	adjoined	the	Elgin	building	on	its	west	side	and	the	
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Adelaide	building	on	its	south	side,	forming	a	single	“L”	shaped	complex	that	was	simply	
generally	referred	to	as	BTCO’s	“76	Adelaide	Street	West”	exchange	complex.	Four	stories	
had	also	been	added	to	the	existing	Elgin	building,	bringing	it	up	to	12	stories.	Two	more	
stories	would	be	added	in	later	years.		Five	exchange	names	assigned	to	dial	systems	were	
served	by	this	complex,	which	included:	“ELgin”	(1925);	“ADelaide”	(1928);	“WAverley”	
(1931),	“TRinity”	(1938)	and	“PLaza”	(1948).	During	the	1950’s,	these	exchange	names	
were	changed,	respectively,	to:	“EMpire		4”;	“EMpire		3”;	“EMpire		8”;	“UNiversity		1”	and	
“EMpire		6”.	The	Temperance	Street/Sheppard	Street	combined	structure	still	stands	as	
part	of	the	Bell	Canada	76	Adelaide	Street	West	complex.	A	current	view	is	shown	below.	
	
	

		
	

Current	View	of	Elgin	Building	(Sheppard	Street	side)	
	
Notice	that	the	original	“THE	BELL	TELEPHONE	COMPANY	OF	CANADA”	inscription	
remains	intact	above	the	doorway.	
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1925	Photo	of	1030	-	1040	Dufferin	Street	
	
In	May	1925,	a	new	3-storey	dial	system	exchange	building	at	1040	Dufferin	Street	was	
completed.	It	adjoined	the	existing	“KEnwood”	exchange	building	at	1030	Dufferin	Street.	
Six	exchange	names	assigned	to	dial	systems	were	served	by	this	building,	which	included:	
“LOmbard”	(1925);	“Lloydbrook”	(1929),	“MElrose”	(1931);	“LAkeside”	(1933);	“KEnwood”	
(1936)	and	“OLiver”	(1950).	In	1956,	these	exchange	names	were	changed,	respectively,	to:	
“LEnnox		6”;	“LEnnox		5”;	“LEnnox		1”;	“LEnnox		2”;	“LEnnox		3”	and	“LEnnox		4”.	The	1030	–	
1040	Dufferin	Street	complex	still	stands	and	remains	owned	and	operated	by	Bell	Canada.	
A	current	view	is	shown	below.		
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Early	Photo	of	562	Runnymede	Road	
	

																																																						 	
	

Current	View	of	562	Runnymede	Road	
	

Early	in	1926,	a	new	dial	system	exchange	building	at	562	Runnymede	Road	was	
completed.	Four	exchange	names	were	assigned	to	dial	systems	in	this	building.	These	
were:	“LYndhurst”	(1926);	“JUnction”	(1929);	“MUrray”	(1942)	and	“ROdney”	(1949).	In	
1955,	these	exchange	names	were	changed,	respectively,	to:	“ROger		7”;	“ROger		9”;	“ROger		
2”	and	“ROger		6”.	The	562	Runnymede	Road	building	is	still	owned	and	operated	by	Bell	
Canada.		
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																											Early	Photo	of	184	Simpson	Avenue	
	

																									 	
	

Current	View	of	184	Simpson	Avenue	
	
During	1926,	a	new	dial	system	exchange	building	was	completed	at	184	Simpson	Avenue.	
Four	exchange	names	were	assigned	to	dial	systems	in	this	building.	These	were:		
“HArgrave”	(1926);	“GLadstone”	(1930);	“GErrard”	(1935)	and	“RIverdale”	(1949).	In	1957,	
these	exchange	names	were	changed,	respectively,	to:	“HOward		6”;	“HOward		5”;	“HOward		
3”	and	“HOward		1”.	The	184	Simpson	Avenue	building	is	still	owned	and	operated	by	Bell	
Canada.	
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1927	BTCO	Sketch	of	64	Eglinton	Avenue	East	
	
During	1927,	a	new	dial	system	exchange	building	at	64	Eglinton	Avenue	East	was	
completed.	In	1931,	the	address	number	of	the	64	Eglinton	Avenue	East	building	was	
changed	to	72	Eglinton	Avenue	East.	Four	exchange	names	were	assigned	to	dial	systems	in	
this	building.	These	were:	“HYland”	(1928);	“MOhawk”	(1932);	“HUdson”	(1935)	and	
“MAyfair”	(1938).	During	the	1950’s,	these	exchange	names	were	changed,	respectively,	to:	
“HUdson		9”;	“HUdson		3”;	“HUdson		8”	and	“HUdson		5”.	The	72	Eglinton	Avenue	East	
building	is	still	owned	and	operated	by	Bell	Canada.	A	current	view	is	shown	below.		
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Current	View	of	72	Eglinton	Avenue	East	
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1945	BTCO	Sketch	of	Future	310	Ridelle	Avenue	
	

In	1946,	a	new	dial	system	exchange	building	at	310	Ridell	Avenue	was	completed.	In	1953,	
its	address	number	changed	from	310	Ridelle	Avenue	to	130	Ridelle	Avenue.	Three	
exchange	names	were	assigned	to	dial	systems	in	this	building.	These	were:	“ORchard”	
(1946);	“REdfern”	(1948)	and	“RUssell		1”	(1951).	In	1958,	the	first	two	exchange	names	
were	changed,	respectively,	to:	“RUssell		2”	and	“RUssell		3”.	This	building	is	still	owned	and	
operated	by	Bell	Canada.	A	current	view	is	shown	below.	
	
	

																	 	


